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Road infrastructure is a very important element that concerns communication
and transport of goods, but it was also critical for the integration of medieval peoplel
Therefore, a detailed study ofthe medieval road system and its local road variations is
seen as a necessity2

The geographic relief configuration ofthe Macedonian north-west area, Polog,
had predestined its natural traffic communications. Locked between mountains on
all sides, Polog is a well sealed geographic unit leaning from the southwest towards
northeast. The Area is open towards Skopje Valley in two sections only and towards
Kosovo, by the Kacanik Gorge in one, and it conditions its road communications
accordingly, which in general terms may be split into latitudinal and longitudinal.

Two longitudinal roads cut through Polog. As seen from the north towards
south, one road stretched alongside the base of Shar Planina (Shara Mountain), while
the other alongside the bases of the mountains Zheden and Suva Gora3 The latitudinal
roads stretched over Shar Planina and Suva Gora. Those stretched over Shar Planina
passed by the valleys of the more significant left side tributaries to Vardar river and
at least three ofthem led to Metohija (Kosovo and Metohija), while one followed the
junctions of the rivers Radika and Drim. There had also been, at least one more road
which led to Porece through Suva Gora4.

Besides the listed road sections which connected Polog with the neighbouring
areas and with the most important major roads in the Balkans5, other local roads and

1M.McCormick (2002), 3-5.

2 K.Belke (2002), 73, 86; J. Koder (2001), 62-65 (=J. Kogep (2001), 62-65.)

3 The advantage of these roads comes from the fact that they avoided the crossing of the Vardar river to the
maximum extent that the terrain allowed, while the downside to that was the constant alluvia originating from its
tributaries, especially the road which led alongside the base of the Shara Mountain, see: J.TpugpyHockn (1976),
126; M .lawesckn (1986), 9.

4 As for the roads which connected Polog to the neighbouring and more distant regions, see I'.LU KpuBaHunk
(1974), p. 80 and onwards.

5 Trans-regional routes and roads which passed through Polog, as supported by contemporary and authentic
evidence, are of interest to me in other research.
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byways had also been used for the so-called micro-journeys within one region and/
or area6. The existence of such roads was a response to the need for communication
between the population (peasants, nobility, monks) inhabiting Polog, i.e. from/
within villages and their boundaries or from/within towns, forts and watch points in
Polog. Such contacts were conditioned by the daily activities of Polog’s population
in agriculture, husbandry, forestry, trade, as well as by their military-defense activities
and religious needs7. Communication links had been established as a consequence,
connecting upper settlements, lower settlements and upper and lower villages and
fortifications in various parts in the area.

Authentic evidence of local roads in Polog are found only in the written
sources originating from the Area’s late medieval past 13th-14thcentury. Most evidence
is offered by the Htetovo Charter8and the Land Inventory (BpesH0) ofthe Monastery
Bogorodica Htetovska (Holy Virgin of Htetovo)9.

The authentic records contained in these two sources suggest that the
descriptions of the temporalities of Bogorodica Htetovska name the local roads after
the names of the villages. However, there are only few authentic confirmations on
the existence of village roads in that area. Htetovo Charter only notes the roads in the
village of LeshkaXl(nlwkorn rkm™my; nlwkn moyti; nlwkmwn\y moytAA)IL The Inventory
contains data on the roads in the villages of Krpena® (article 7: moyt/ kpYnetcka),
TreboshB (article 10: Tpleowkn moyt/), LeshokMk (articles 11 and 24: al luhl mi

6 M.McCormick (2002), 5, 14-16.

7 For the roads ofthis rank, the so-called “secondary roads”, see K.Belke (2002), 86-87, 90. Also see .Boxunnos
(2009), 29-31.

8 The Charter awarded by the Serbian king Stefan Dushan to the Monastery Sveta Bogorodica (Holy Virgin)
in Tetovo in the forties of the 14th century has several publications, but we use: J1.CnaseBa (1980), 306-322;
C.HoBakoBuk (1912), 657-661; Chilandar Il (1915), 461-468. We have also consulted the specialized diplomatic
and sphragistic analyses by [1.Kopak (1984), 141-163.

9 For the latest information about this source, originating in the forties ofthe 14thcentury, see 'E. By6ano (2002),
177-193. We make use ofthe editions of: J1.Cnasesa (1980), 283-299; Chilandar Il (1915), 483-489; A.ConoBjeB
(1926), 129-132 (the source here is given in short and translated).

10 The existence of the Leshka village has been reported only in the 40’s of the 14th century. It seems that the
part of the modem literature wrongly identifies this village with the Lesht location, see: V.Kravari (1989), 203;
N.CnaseBa (1980), 283 note 3; A.M.Cennwuyes (1929), 99-100; Also see T.Tomocku (1999), 140, who
considers it as identical to Leshok.

11 It is about article 14 from the Htetovo Charter (see: J1.CnaBesa (1980), 314; Chilandar Il (1915), 465;
C.HosakoB/1 (1912), 658), as well as articles 18, 19, 21 (two times), 23, 26, 27, 41 (two times), 60, 66, and 68
from the Land Inventory (see: J1.CnaBeBa (1980), 286, 287, 289, 295, 296; Chilandar Il (1915), 484, 485, 487,
488. Also see A.Conosjes (1926), 129, who has completely neglected these articles).

12 The existence of the Krpena village (in first instance as a temporality (meTox)) has been authentically reported
in between the mid thirties and the late forties of the 14th century. In the Modem Literature the village has been
registered in: K.Ayuesckn (1997), 24-25; V.Kravari (1989), 199-200; /1.Cnasesa (1980), 133,315 note 30 n 317
note 36; B.MowwuH-/1.CnaseBa (1981), 85-86 note 27. Also see early publication by M.ITypKOBHh (1940), 107.
13 Written sources testify about this village in the period between the mid thirties and the late forties of the 14th
century. Literature that has registered the village: V.Kravari (1989), 224-225; J1.CnasesBa (1980), 136, 270-271;
J.TpudyHockmn (1976), 439; M .Hukonuk (1976), 45; M.Mypkosuk (1940), 148.

14 The written sources give evidence for the continued existence of Leshok in the period between the 9thand the
15thcentury. Also see V.Kravari (1989), 202-203, with a short overview ofthe sources that contain a mention of it;
N.Munkynumnk (1996), 326-330; /1.CnaseBa (1980), 136, 270 note 29; J.TpudyHockun (1976), 327-329, with a
short background about the town and the village of Leshok, predominantly taken over from P.M.pyju/b (1933),
43-44 (the same (1932), 129); T.Tomockmn (1999), 140; M .HukonuK (1976), 44-45.
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noytpMI), Htetovob (articles 21 and 60: moyti wti X t ltope; moyti Lt ltobick/),
Poroj® (article 22: nopouckg moytn), Hvalishel7 (articles 29 and 41: XBomwkg moytr;
Xsonmwkn moyti), Rechical (article 49: Plunygnnu... nog moytpANi), Leskovjanil9
(article 50: Alckokn2mu... nog moytpMT), Hrashtani (article: moytMT Tpn;awck/|\V(),
Drenovec2 (article: OdpYHos4emY nog moytpMT), Velgosht2 (article 52: B6atyo;omr nop,
noytBMI), BrodéeZ3 (article 67: bpoauun...no moytm)24 According to these data, the road
accesses to and from the villages above-mentioned had names identical to the names
of the villages. Therefore, it seems plausible that in real life the number of local roads
in Polog had been far greater, that they had connected all villages and had been named
after the names of the respective villages.

In a large number of cases these village roads intercepted and crosscut each
other, and were often named so in the sources, ifthey had no specific names. Examples
of unnamed crossroads are found in articles 25 (pAonoytn2), 45 (pacnoyTtn3nd) and
71 (Mexgoync~tn3) of the Land Inventorys Confirmations on intersections of
specifically named roads are found in the articles 41 (nlwkuml moytPMT KNKO ce CTN3
KBO/ MWK TOYTi), 60 (NL1WKA moytnm NHti moyTi Lt 1t OBIGk/), 68 (Nlwkg moytn W HHhi
HMKN(OPOBKKM ToyTi) and 76 (moytm MOANONKKA, owC moyt Nnlumukn) of the Land
Inventory2.

15 The written sources give evidence for the continued existence of (H)Tetovo in the period between 13th and
14thcentury. Literature that has registered the village: V.Kravari (1989), 190 with a short overview ofthe sources
that contain a mention of it in the period between 13th and 15th century; A .CnaeBa (1980), 131, 311 note 12;
T.Tomocku (1976), 75; Also see early publications by: M.Mypkosuk (1940), 154; P.M.rpyjnh (1933), 38, 47,
48; A.M.Cenwues (1929), 77, 87, 93.

16 The written sources give evidence of this village only in the forties of the 14th century. Literature that has
registered the village: V.Kravari (1989), 211; J.TputdyHocku (1976), 349; M.Mypkose/b (1940), 130.

17 The written sources about this village are from the first half of forties of the 14th century. Literature that has
registered the village: V.Kravari (1989), 193; /1.CnaseBa (1980), 133, 314 note 24; J.TpudyHocku (1976), 429-
430; M.MypkoBuk (1940), 153. P.M.Tpyjnh (1933), 48.

18 The written sources give evidence for the continued existence of Rechica in the period between the middle ofthe
13thand forties ofthe 14thcentury. Literature that has registered the village: V.Kravari (1989), 215-216; /1.CnaBeBa
(1980), 134-135; J.TpudyHockn (1976), 371-372, 375 (the same (1988), 243); M.MypkoBuk (1940), 136.

19 The written sources give evidence for the continued existence of Leskovjani in the period between the middle of
the 13thand fifties of the 1l4thcentury. Literature that has registered the village: V.Kravari (1989), 201; /1.CnaBeBa
(1980), 312-313 note 18, 450 note 5. Also see early publications by: M .Mypkosuk (1940), 111; P.M.Ipyjuk
(1933), 47, 48; A.M .Cenwues (1929), 101,108,117.

20 The written sources about this village are only from the forties of the 14th century. Literature that has registered
the village: V.Kravari (1989), 189-190; J1.CnaseBa (1980), 131,311 note 13,440 note 49. Also see: M.MypKOBUK
(1940), 154; A.M .Cenunwuyes (1929), 94.

21 The written sources about Drenovec are only from the forties of the 14th century. Literature that has registered
the village: V.Kravari (1989), 186; J1.CnaseBa (1980), 440 note 50; P.M.rpyjnh (1933), 47, 48.

22 The written sources about this village are only from the forties of the 14th century. In the Modem Literature
only V.Kravari (1989), 226, has registered it, with doubt (village (?)).

23 The written sources about Brode¢ are from the forties of the 14th century. Literature that has registered the
village: V.Kravari (1989), 182; 1.CnaseBa (1980), 132, 440 note 51; J.TpucdyHocku (1976), 357; P.M.Tpyjnh
(1933), 47.

24 About articles 7,10,11, 21,22,24,29, 41,49, 50, 51, 52, 60 and 67 from the Land Inventory, see: J1.CnaBseBa
(1980), 284, 287, 288, 289, 293, 295, 296; Chilandar 11 (1915), 483-488. Also see A.ConosjeB (1926), 129-131,
who has left out these articles.

25 1.Cnasesa (1980), 287, 289, 297; Chilandar Il (1915), 485, 486, 488; A.Conosjes (1926), 131 (only article
71).

26 N.CnaseBa (1980), 289,295, 296; Chilandar 1l (1915), 485,487, 488; A.ConoBjeB (1926), 131 (only article
76).
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Byways had also been used, in particular as shortcuts, named as traversal in the
sources. Evidence for them can be found in the articles 5 (moyt™ npluun), 7 (npluHorn
moytn), 32 (npluHorg moytm) and 62 (nplunmnnimoytBMi) of the Land InventoryZr.

Within the boundaries of the villages byways had existed and connected
internal locations. Records on such byways are found in Konstantine’s Charter2 and
in Milutin’s Charter2, in the description of the boundaries of Rechica village. The
Konstantine’s Charter makes a note of a road which led into the forest through the
hillside (n6Tenm biVi BoYaw o r(o)pa), as well as ofaroad on Suva Planina ((m)6Tenm un
(Cy)k6 MngHrH6)3, while the Milutin’s Charter contains evidence ofaroad which passed
alongside a forest (moytBMT oyi* reoeaY)3L A number of such byways were reported in
the description of the boundaries of the Htetovo Monastery temporalities, as shown
in articles 3 (rge ce ctn3d moyti U BPABAA), 8 (moyTti no cpla HMBe), 9 ((MecHocTa) Mor/
JVHTL, T, NeyTeANY), 15 1 55 (nplc-toyti), 17 (AonHern noytm), 23 (MukTIL MOoyTeAN:
N HHNhi ApoyTH oy Ti), 24 (JTL;4lnnl moytBAN), 44 (\\6=KABy toyTteMT U NNEXA0Y CPABANSM),
50 (oy Opawm nog noyt/wi), 67 (go moytm) and 75 (no cplal Huee Te moyti) ofthe Land
Inventory2 A road of this rank is also noted in the General Hilendar Charter33 in the
description ofthe boundaries of a donated parcel within the Mlachice village, as aroad
leading from the Nikifor(ov)ci location to the mountain slopes (wav Hukrdopug Koko
rpefe moyti HA wnoropi)34

Besides the above-mentioned, regularly used roads, there had been old
roads, which had been maintained and used. Such evidence is contained in the
Land Inventory’s article 32 describing the location of a Monastery owned field and
a meadow, partially bordering with the old road (mo crtgporg moyt/). Such records
indirectly suggest that besides the long used roads (originally referred to as “old”),
new roads and byways had also been created, in parallel with the development of the
existing and the establishment of new settlements in Polog.

27 N.CnaseBa (1980), 284,288,296; Chilandar Il (1915), 483,485,487. Also see A.Conosjes (1926), 129-130,
who has completely neglected these articles.

28 On the Charter oftsar Constantine Tikh Asen of Bulgaria awarded to the Monastery of Saint George (Gorg) near
Skopje in 1258 or after 1258, compare the publications of: B.MowwuH-/1.CnaseBa-K.Mnnescka (1975), 183-204;
M .NBaHoB (repr. 1970), 581-587.

29 Regarding the Charter awarded by the Serbian king Milutin to the Monastery of Saint George (Gorg) in Skopje in
1299/1300, besides its latest publication by B.MowuH-/1.Cnasesa-K.Mnnescka (1975), 209-241, we considered
the publication of C.HoBakoBuk (1912), 608-621. We also compared the source text against the translation ofthe
Charter offered by A.Conosjes (1926), 69-82 (about Polog p. 74-76, articles 32-35).

30 B.MowwnH-/1.CnaBeBa-K.Mnuescka (1975), 192; N.NBaHoB (repr. 1970), 584; B.Haues (1996), 50.

31 B.MowwnH-/1.CnaseBa-K.Mnuescka (1975), 224. Description of boundaries at C.HosakoBuk (1912), 614,
is left out. Also see A.ConosjeB (1926), 75.

32 About articles 3, 8, 9,15,17, 23, 24, 44, 50, 55, 67 and 75 from the Land Inventory, see: J1.Cnasesa (1980),
283, 284, 285, 287, 289, 293, 294, 296, 297; Chilandar Il (1915), 483, 484, 486, 487, 488; A.ConoBjes (1926),
129,131 (only articles 3 and 75).

33 Tsar Dushan’s Charter awarded to the Hilander Monastery in 1348, during Dushan’s visit to Mont Atos (Sveta
Gora), according to the analysis of L.Slaveva ((1980), 426-427) is not original and the kept copy is merely a
transcript made after 1365. We use L.Slaveva’s ((1980), 430-446) edition prepared on the basis of photographic
records of V.Moshin’s personal archive, as well as the editions by S.Novakovic ((1912), 418-423) and B.Korablev
(Chilandar Il (1915), 493-497) who consider the Charter original.

34 N.CnaBeBa (1980), 439" Chilandar Il (1915), 496; C.HoBakoBuk (1912), 422. About the meaning of the Old
Slavonic word “W noropV -mountain slopes, see J1.Cnasesa (1980), 388 note 157.
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In our concluding findings on the local roads in Polog, we affirm that in the
medieval period, especially in the period between 13thand 14thcentury, the Polog area
disposed of a dense and rather busy local road network. We base these conclusions on
contemporary written sources which in their modesty, do unambiguously report about
the existence of village roads, traversal roads and byways within the boundaries of
villages, but also about the use ofthe old, long known roads, by the Polog’s population.
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Pe3nme:
JlokanHun natuwTa BO CpefHOBEKOBeH [osior: nuwaHn n3sopu

Bo Monor Bo cpegHoBekoBneTo (ocobeHo Bo Xl n XIV Bek) noctoena
rycta M MOLWHe MpekpeHTHa JioOKanHa mnaTtHa wMpexa. BakeBuTe Hawwm
coregyBsawa rv TeMesiMme Bp3 COBPeMeHUN NULWaHW U3BOPU, KOU, NaKO CKPOMHMU,
HeLBOCMMWC/IEHO N3BECTYBAAT 3a NOCTOEH e HA CE/ICKM NaTULLITA, NOTOa HAMPEYHM
naTuwita, a UCTO TakKa M NaTyMwba BO paMKUTe Ha CaMUOT CEefICKW aTap, HO ”
KOpuCcTewe Ha cTapuTe ofaMHa Mo3HaTW naTuwTa Of CTpaHa Ha NOJIOWKOTO
HaceneHue.

bobaH MeTpoBCKMU



